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ARTICLE OF THE MONTH

COURT’S AUTHORITY TO BAN COUNSEL
FROM CONFERRING WITH CLIENT
DURING TESTIMONY

By Jay A. Frank

Frequently, opposing counsel will ask the Court to
instruct the witness not to discuss his testimony with his
counsel during a break in the trial. Does the Court have
authority to do so in a family law case?

The answer is yes, the Court has the authority and the
discretion to prevent conversation between counsel and
his client in these circumstances. The key here is the dis-
tinction between criminal and civil cases. In a criminal
case, the client has a Sixth Amendment right to confer
with his attorney at any stage of the proceeding. To pre-
vent the client from this sort of access to his counsel is
most likely reversible error. The Sixth Amendment is so
fundamental in a criminal case that reversible error
occurs even without the necessity of showing any preju-
dice.

However, in a civil case, such as a family law case, it’s a
very different story. The Sixth Amendment right to coun-
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sel is not applied. Thus, the Court can prohibit conversa-
tion between counsel and his client. The seminal case is
Stocker Hinge Mfg. Co. v. Darnel Industries, Inc., 61
M. App.3d 636, 377 N.E.2d 1125 (1st Dist. 1978). In this
First District case, the Court spells out its authority to pre-
vent discussions between counsel and his client during the
course of a trial. The opinion makes it clear that the court
has discretion to enter such an order, but that the discre-
tion is not unlimited. If actual prejudice can be shown,
then the Court should decline to issue such an order.

Two subsequent cases, both from the Second District,
uphold Stocker Hinge:

Commonwealth Edison Co. v. Danekas, 104
I11.App.3d 907, 433 N.E.2d 736 (2nd Dist. 1982), and Hill
v. Ben Franklin Sav. & Loan Ass’n., 177 IL.App.3d 51, 531
N.E.2d 1089 (2nd Dist. 1988).

Take note that the Court is not required to issue an
order preventing discussions of this nature, as all the
cases refer to the Court’s authority as being discre-
tionary. But, if you ask for the ban to be applied, you
have solid authority on your side.

Jay A. Frank is a senior matrimonial practitioner
in Chicago, Illinois with over 45 years of experience.
He has been selected as one of the top family law
attorneys in Illinois.

» ATTORNEY FEES

Third District Rejects the necessity of proving a Spouse’s
inability to Pay as a Prerequisite to a Contribution
Award.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF GREGORY W. ANDERSON,
Petitioner-Appellee, and MARY J. ANDERSON,
respondent. (MICHAEL D. CANULLI, Appellant).
December 17, 2015, Ill.App.Ct. 3rd District, No. 3-14-
0257, 2015 IL App (3d) 140257, Dinah L.
Archambeault, trial judge.
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Attorney Michael Canulli filed a motion for contribu-
tion against Gregory to recover attorney fees incurred by
Gregory’s former wife, Mary, who Canulli represented
for a two-year period during Gregory and Mary’s disso-
lution proceedings. A hearing took place on the petition,
and after Canulli presented his case, Gregory moved for
a directed verdict. The trial court granted Gregory’s
motion and dismissed Canulli’s petition for contribution.
The appellate court reversed and remanded.

1.) During the pendency of the proceedings, Mary
filed several motions for attorney fees and was awarded
fees from the marital assets, as was Gregory. Mary dis-
charged Canulli in February 2010. Gregory filed bank-
ruptcy. Mary, too, filed bankruptcy during the pendency
of the proceedings. Canulli filed a petition for contribu-
tion seeking to recover Mary’s attorney fees from
Gregory, who did not discharge Canulli’s contribution
claim in his bankruptcy.

2.) On March 9, 2011, the trial court entered the
judgment of dissolution, which incorporated Gregory
and Mary’s marital settlement agreement. The agree-
ment allocated all the attorney fees owed to Canulli to
Mary, stating she was “solely responsible” for them and
waiving any contribution from Gregory “for payment of
the same.” The marital settlement agreement also pro-
vided that Mary execute a quit claim deed to Gregory
waiving her interest in the office condominium as “an
equalization and reallocation of attorney’s fees paid” to
Canulli. Gregory was awarded the parties’ business and
ordered to pay maintenance of 7.5% of its adjusted gross
revenues. The parties divided their personal property,
and each received half of their retirement and bank
accounts. Gregory was provided the parties’ two vehi-
cles, with payment to Mary for one.

3.) Mary’s bankruptcy was finalized in August 2011
and discharged the attorney fees she owed Canulli.

4.) The trial court determined that although Canulli
offered some evidence that Mary could not pay her fees,
he did not offer any evidence regarding her expenses and
failed to establish her inability to pay. The trial court dis-
missed Canulli’s petition.

5.) A trial court may order either party to pay the
reasonable attorney fees of his spouse. Section 508(a)
directs that contribution to attorney fees may be ordered
from an opposing party in accord with section 503(j).

6.) In deciding the petition for contribution, the trial
court must consider the factors for property distribution
set forth in section 503 and 504. In determining an award
of attorney fees, the trial court considers the relative
financial circumstances of the parties, including the allo-
cation of assets and liabilities, maintenance and the par-
ties’ relative earning abilities.

7.) Section 503(j) of the Act requires that the contri-
bution petition be heard and decided “before judgment
is entered.”

8.) Canulli’s petition was timely filed. He filed the
petition for contribution prior to the hearing on the
judgment of dissolution. Section 508(a) allows for pre-
and post-judgment hearings for fee petitions. Section

C
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503()(1) provides that a fee petition may be filed within
30 days after proofs have closed in a dissolution action.
Therefore the trial court may hear and determine a con-
tribution petition after the judgment of dissolution has
been entered.

9.) Canulli claimed that the trial court erred in fail-
ing to require Mary to submit a financial disclosure and
that Mary’s financial affidavit was necessary for him to
establish her inability to pay.

10.) Mary’s financial affidavit was not necessary at
this juncture in the proceedings. Mary’s attorney fee
debt was discharged by the bankruptcy court. The dis-
charge prevented Canulli and the trial court from seek-
ing any portion of the debt payment from Mary. Because
Mary could not be held liable to pay the attorney fees,
Mary’s financial affidavit was irrelevant to the disposi-
tion of the fee petition.

11.) Many decisions have required the attorney
seeking contribution to show the non-client’s ability to
pay as well as his or her own client’s inability to pay. In
contrast, in In re Marriage of Haken, the reviewing court
rejected the necessity of demonstrating an inability to
pay in response to the moving party’s argument that it
was a requirement for a contribution petition. The
Haken court reasoned that section 508(a) was discre-
tionary and based on the factors set forth in sections
503(d) and 504(a). The requirement that a party demon-
strate the other party’s inability to pay wheén seeking fees
through a contribution petition is not included in those
factors.

The Third District court here found the Haken court
persuasive and adopted its rationale. Hakern incorporates
the statutory amendments designed to “level the playing
field” in dissolution proceedings.

12.) In determining a fee petition, a trial court
should consider the parties’ relative financial circum-
stances as directed by the statutory factors in sections
503(d) and 504(a). This approach is aligned with the
statutory goals and better allows attorneys the opportu-
nity to recoup at least a portion of their fees when the
client declares bankruptcy, as Mary did.

13.) The dissent suggested that Gregory’s obligation
to pay Canulli’s fees may have been discharged or some-
how implicated by his bankruptcy filing. While Gregory
sought to discharge any obligation to contribute toward
Mary’s attorneys fees, that discharge was not allowed by
the bankruptcy court. There was simply no bar, either by
waiver or bankruptcy, to Canulli seeking contribution
from Gregory for his unpaid fees as suggested by the dis-
sent.

14.) Canulli made a sufficient showing that Mary did
not have the ability to pay the balance due on his fees.
Therefore, Gregory’s financial affidavit was the relevant
document for the trial court to examine.

15.) The trial court can only reach a valid determi-
nation of a fee petition when it has current information
on which to base its decision. The provisions in the local
rules concerning the parties’ financial disclosures man-
date the parties provide information on their financial

circumstances under oath and serve them within three
days of the hearing.

16.) The proper timeframe for disclosure of the par-
ties’ financial circumstances to determine a contribution
petition is the time of the hearing on the petition, not the
date of dissolution as established by the trial court.

17.) The availability of current financial information
is the appropriate means for a trial court to reach an
informed decision on the parties’ ability or inability to
contribute to the other parties’ attorney fees. The trial
court’s denial of Canulli’s petition for contribution was
against the manifest weight of the evidence. The trial
court reached its conclusion based on an incorrect time-
frame to consider the parties’ financial circumstance and
without Gregory’s current financial information.

JUSTICE McDADE, dissented:

“Gregory had no legal responsibility for Canulli’s
fees, and the only way he could be required to pay
them is if he is obligated pursuant to section 508(a)
to do so. This conclusion raises two questions: First,
as a threshold issue, does Mary’s bankruptcy dis-
charge constitute a legal bar to Gregory’s possible
obligation to contribute to Canulii’s fees; and sec-
ond, if the discharge does not constitute a bar to
Canulli’s recovery from Gregory, can the statutory
requirements for imposing those fees on Gregory be
satisfied?

* % ¥k

“A major issue in a contribution action such as
this one is whether the client’s quashed obligation to
pay the discharged debt can be imposed upon the
former spouse...I would conclude that it cannot.”

* Kk %k

“I would agree with Gregory and find that Mary’s
discharge of Canulli’s bills in her bankruptcy action
is a complete bar to Canulli’s claim for contribu-
tion.”

Wife’s Attorney Must Disgorge $60,000 of Earned Fees.
Interim Fee Award Affirmed.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF MICHAEL SQUIRE,
Petitioner-Appellee, and CATHERINE D. SQUIRE,
Respondent. (The Stogsdill Law Firm, PC., Appellant).
December 16, 2015, Il App.Ct. 2nd District, No. 2-
15-0271, 2015 IL App (2d) 150271, Neal W. Cerne,
trial judge.

The Stogsdill Law Firm, representing Catherine,
appealed the trial court’s order requiring it to pay
$60,000 to the attorneys for Michael pursuant to the
“leveling of the playing field” provisions of the
Dissolution Act. 750 ILCS 5/501(c-1). Stogsdill contend-
ed that (1) this provision did not apply to an earned
retainer, (2) the trial court’s order finding that the pay-
ment was necessary to level the playing field was against
the manifest weight of the evidence, and (3) the review-
ing court should vacate the contempt finding.
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The appellate court vacated the contempt finding but
otherwise affirmed.

1.) The parties had few assets but significant debts.
Although Michael earned a six-figure income, his
monthly expenses, which included debt-service payments
from the parties’ bankruptcy, exceeded his monthly
income. He had paid his attorneys $2,500 and had no
additional funds with which to pay them. By the time of
the hearing on the contribution petition, he owed his
attorneys approximately $53,000.

2.) Catherine was unemployed. However, she had
borrowed approximately $130,000 from her mother to
pay her attorneys. Approximately $10,000 of that
amount went to her previous attorney. The rest was paid
to Stogsdill as a retainer.

3.) Stogsdill argued strenuously that it had already
earned the retainer and deposited the money in its gen-
eral account. Thus, it contended, it could not be required
to disgorge fees that were already its property. The trial
court granted the interim-fee petition. It found that the
parties had not been overly litigious, but that they were
not “financially secure.” Thus, although Michael earned
a “reasonable salary,” his net income was insufficient to
meet his obligations and basic living expenses. On the
other hand, Catherine could borrow money from her
mother to pay her attorneys. The trial court ordered
Stogsdill to pay Michael’s counsel $60,000 within 14
days.

4.) The appellate court had jurisdiction. Stogsdill
appealed from an order finding it in contempt of court
and imposing a sanction. Such an order is final and
appealable.

5.) Contrary to Michael’s representation, the trial
court did not enter a final dissolution judgment. Rather
than carrying forward the interim order as the final order
on the issue of contribution to attorney fees, the dissolu-
tion order expressly reserved the issue of a final appor-
tionment of attorney fees pending the outcome of this
appeal. Far from finally deciding the issue and preclud-
ing an appeal as Michael seemed to suggest, the trial
court’s order reserved the issue to await a decision. Thus,
reversing the interim fee order would provide Stogsdill
* with relief.

6.) The trial court did not err in ordering Stogsdill to
disgorge a portion of its retainer. Stogsdill contended
that the trial court could not require it to disgorge.

7.) Ownership of an advance-payment retainer pass-
es to the lawyer immediately upon payment and, accord-
ingly, the funds must be deposited into the lawyer’s gen-
eral account rather than the client’s trust account, due to
the prohibition against commingling funds. An advance-
payment retainer was subject to disgorgement in
Earlywine, 2013 IL 114779.

8.) Stogsdill suggested that an advance-payment
retainer, although approved by the supreme court, is
essentially an accounting device to shield the funds from
the client’s creditors, whereas here Stogsdill had earned
its retainer by performing legal services.

9.) Earlywine did not intend to limit its holding to

advance-payment retainers. Moreover, accepting
Stogsdill’s position would completely frustrate the pur-
pose of the statute. The “advantaged spouse” and his or
her attorney could effectively block access to funds for
the other spouse by the way they categorized their
retainer agreement.

10.) Moreover, the attorney representing the advan-
taged spouse would have a strong incentive to earn the
fees at an early stage of the litigation. The attorney could
file voluminous pleadings and motions early in the case,
thus “earning” the retainer, while leaving the other
spouse to respond to a mountain of paperwork with lit-
tle chance of obtaining resources to do so properly.

11.) The term “available” as used in the statute sim-
ply means that the funds exist somewhere.

12.) It does not matter that the source of the funds
is a relative rather than the marital estate.

» CHILDREN

Trial Court Correctly Applied Best Interests Standard in
Deciding Father’s Request for Additional Visitation
after the Original Orders had Restricted Visitation.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF BETSY M., Petitioner-
Appellee, and JOHN M., Respondent-Appellant.
December 17, 2015, Ill. App.Ct. 1st District, No. 1-15-
1358, 2015 IL App (1st) 151358, David Haracz, trial
judge.

The custody judgment gave Betsy sole custody of the
parties’ three minor children and provided restricted vis-
itation for John. At the time of the judgment and after,
John was being treated for depression and anxiety issues
and had a strained and limited relationship with the chil-
dren. The children did not desire increased visitation.
John filed a Motion to Increase And/Or Modify
Parenting Time, including overnights. The trial court
granted the motion in part by increasing John’s hours of
visitation from one hour to three hours every other
week, and denied the motion in part by ordering that all
other parenting agreements as laid out in the October
29, 2013 order remain the same. John appealed. The
appellate court affirmed.

1.) The appellate court had jurisdiction to hear
John’s appeal because it was an order which modified
custody of the minor children. The orders could also be
appealed pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule
304(b)(6).

2.) Because the trial court did not restrict John’s vis-
itation rights but rather expanded his visitation rights,
the appropriate standard for the trial court to consider
was the best interests of the child standard. 750 ILCS
5/607(c). John cited several cases for the proposition that
the serious endangerment standard should apply.
However, all the cases he cited involved either: (1) a
request to limit a parent’s visitation rights, and/or (2) a
trial court order that restricts a parent’s visitation rights.
Neither of those facts were present here. Neither party
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requested a limitation or restriction of any kind in John’s
visitation with his children, and the trial court did not
restrict or limit John’s visitation rights beyond what the
parties had already agreed. In fact, the trial court
increased John’s visitation from one hour every other
week to three hours every other week.

3.) A best interest determination is heavily fact
dependant; it cannot be reduced to a simple bright line
test, but rather must be made on a case-by-case basis,
depending on the circumstances of each situation. There
is a strong presumption in favor of a trial court’s ruling
because it had the opportunity to observe the parents
and the children and evaluate their temperaments, per-
sonalities and capabilities.

4.) John had sought increased visitation in the form
of 12 hours of visitation on alternating Saturdays and
Sundays and, thereafter, alternate weekend visitation
from Friday after school until Sunday at 5:00 p.m. Dr.
Palen, who was appointed for the sole purpose of evalu-
ating whether an increase in John’s visitation was in the
children’s best interests, concluded that such an increase
was not in the children’s best interests. It is within the
trial court’s discretion to rely on and consider the rec-
ommendations of an expert appointed pursuant to sec-
tion 604(b).

Sole Custody Award to Mother, Upheld.
See David H.B., page 7.

Vested Restricted Stock Should be Counted as Income for
Child Support Purposes. Dissent Filed.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF TAMMY SCHLE]I, Petitioner-
Appellant, and MARK SCHLEI, Respondent-Appellee.
December 10, 2015, H1.App.Ct. 3rd District, No. 3-14-
0592, 2015 IL App (3d) 140592, David Garcia, trial
judge.

Tammy appealed from a trial court judgment making
modifications to Mark’s child support obligations.

1.) The parties divorced in Michigan in 2007. The
parties shared joint legal custody of their three minor
children. Tammy was designated as the minors’ primary
residential custodian. Mark was ordered to pay child
support in accordance with Michigan law. He was also
ordered to pay spousal support to Tammy for 10 years,
because Tammy was a homemaker and unemployed at
the time of the divorce.

2.) Tammy relocated to Colorado. Mark relocated to
Pennsylvania then Illinois. The parties engaged in exten-
sive post-decree litigation. The Illinois trial court deviat-
ed from the child support guidelines and set child sup-
port at 15% ($2,483), a downward deviation from the
usual 28%, of Mark’s net income. The trial court stated
that it granted the deviation after consideration of the
financial needs of the children, the financial resources of
both parties, and the standard of living that the children
enjoyed while living in Michigan. Tammy’s request for
retroactive modification of child support was denied.

The trial court also ordered Mark to pay 15% of the
gross of any bonus.

3.) The child support order should have been
retroactive to February 10, 2012. The Michigan court
order of April 11, 2012, stated that all decisions would be
retroactive to February 10, 2012, The Michigan court
had jurisdiction when that order was entered, and the
order was registered. Under section 603(c) of the Act,
the trial court was to enforce, but not modify, the
Michigan order. Thus, the order requiring Mark to pay
child support in the amount of $2,483 per month was
retroactive to February 10, 2012.

4.) The trial court found that any income that Mark
received from his long-term stock compensation would
be excluded as income for child support purposes except
for the shares he sold and converted to cash. Tammy con-
tended that this was in error, arguing that the restricted
stock should be included as income under section
505(a)(3) when vested.

5.) Hlinois courts have defined income as a gain or a
profit, or an increment or an addition. Withdrawals from
self-funded IRAs, proceeds from a reverse stock split,
and speculative income do not constitute income under
section 505(a)(3).

6.) The entire amount of Mark’s long-term stock
compensation should not have been excluded as income.
Since Mark was no longer employed with the same com-
pany, all of his restricted stock units had either vested or
been forfeited. The restricted stock units that had vested
should be considered as income for child support pur-
poses.

7.) Section 505(a)(2.5) of the Dissolution Act pro-
vides that the trial court, in its discretion in setting child
support, may order either or both parents to pay the chil-
dren’s uncovered healthcare expenses.

8.) It was within the trial court’s discretion to order
the parent with more financial resources to pay the chil-
dren’s medical expenses. Mark earned three times more
than Tammy, but he was also still paying her spousal sup-
port. Considering the ordered child support, both parties
had income that roughly equaled their expenses. In light
of the child support and spousal support, it would have
been fair to equally split the healthcare costs, but the
trial court’s finding that it would be a windfall to Tammy
to increase child support and make Mark pay 50% of the
uncovered healthcare costs was not an abuse of discre-
tion.

9.) JUSTICE HOLDRIDGE, concurred in part and
dissented in part.

“I disagree with the majority’s conclusion that
(Mark’s) vested restricted stock units (RSUs) should
be treated as “income” for child support purposes
under the IMDMA. I would affirm the trial court’s
ruling that Mark’s RSUs should be excluded from
his income for child support purposes unless and
until they are sold and converted to cash...”

“The father’s vested RSUs do not generate
“income” that is actually or constructively received
by the father (i.e., they do not result in a monetary
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benefit in a form that is available to spend) until they
are sold and converted into cash proceeds...Cases
wherein stock options or shares have been treated as
income for child support purposes typically involve
shares that have been sold or distributed.”

Father Wins Sole Custody from Mother. Mother engaged
in Conduct of Manipulation and Alienation.

IN RE: MARRIAGE OF ERICA N. SCHREACKE,
Petitioner-Appellant, v. SHAWN W. SCHREACKE,
Respondent-Appellee. December 24, 2015, TlL. App.Ct.
4th District, No. 4-15-0493, 2015 IL App (4th)
150493-U, Mark A. Drummond, trial judge. Rule 23.

The trial court ruled that the father’s petition for
change of custody had been proved by clear and con-
vincing evidence. Joint custody was terminated and
Shawn was granted sole custody. The trial court noted
that the parties had been in and out of court since the
dissolution agreement was entered. The trial court stat-
ed that it had never seen “this level of animosity, this
level of manipulation, and this level of alienation” in a
dissolution of marriage case. There was a “total failure
*** on the mother’s side to show a willingness and abili-
ty to facilitate a close and continuing relationship
between the other parent and the child.” The trial court
stated further that “[t]he father is not perfect *** but the
court’s concerns of the father pale in significance to the
court’s concerns for the mother.”

The trial court relied on the following additional
facts: (1) Erica’s desire for custody was tainted by her
desire to “get back at” Shawn; (2) the desires of the chil-
dren had been manipulated by Erica; (3) Erica enlisted
her father to interfere with the joint custody arrange-
ment; (4) the trial court had concerns about Erica’s men-
tal health; (5) Erica’s “total failure” to facilitate a rela-
tionship between the children and Shawn; and (6) at
times Erica’s finding the proceedings funny.

The trial court also summarized the contents of
DCFS reports. On three occasions, DCFS investigated
allegations that Shawn abused Em. S. and EL S. Two of
the investigations were declared unfounded by DCEFS,
while one resulted in an indicated finding. The trial court
explained that Erica and her father interfered with the
DCEFS investigations. The trial court found that “[t]he
children do absolutely fine when they are not under the
influence of their mother, and that when they’'re with
[Shawn], everything goes fine until they’re reminded of
the controversy.”

The trial court later entered a written order finding
that Shawn had proved his petition for change of custody
by clear and convincing evidence. The trial court termi-
nated joint custody and awarded Shawn permanent cus-
tody, subject to Erica’s reasonable visitation.

1.) The trial court’s order memorialized the parties’
stipulation to have the DCFS reports admitted as sub-
stantive evidence. Erica argued that the word “consider”
was vague and that the only reasonable interpretation of

the order was that it granted limited in camera review of
the DCFS reports. This argument was utterly without
merit. Erica also contended that such a stipulation would
violate public policy because section 10 requires live tes-
timony from the makers of the DCFS reports. 325 ILCS
5/10 (West 2014). But the parties’ decision to stipulate to
admitting the DCFS reports as substantive evidence also
functioned as a stipulation that the requirements of sec-
tion 10 need not be complied with. That stipulation was
not against public policy.

2.) The trial court explained its decision to deny the
section 604.5 evaluation by stating in its March 2015
written order that the children had been through enough
evaluations and that it was not in their best interest to be
evaluated again. In addition, the trial court asserted that
it did not need an additional opinion from a health pro-
fessional to make its decision on the ultimate issue of
whether custody should be changed. The trial court’s
decision was reasonable and rational. In reaching its
decision, the court considered the harmful effect anoth-
er evaluation would have on the children, balanced
against the benefit a section 604.5 evaluation would pro-
vide the court in reaching its decision. The trial court
also gave weight to the opinion of the GAL and offered
to reconsider its decision should the GAL so request.

3.) Shawn met his burden to modify custody pur-
suant to Section 610(b). Shawn pointed out the following
evidence: Erica (1) called the police when Shawn
entered Erica’s driveway to facilitate visitation; (2)
desired to move the children to Oklahoma; (3) inter-
fered with visitation, causing the children to miss a
planned vacation with Shawn; and (4) made unfounded
reports to DCFS, claiming that Shawn had abused the
children. Shawn also cited the following additional facts
in support of the trial court’s ruling: the trial court (1)
found that Erica’s desire for custody was “tainted by her
desire to somehow get back at the father;” (2) found that
Erica had demonstrated an inability to parent by enlist-
ing her father to interfere in the joint custody arrange-
ment; (3) found that Erica’s employment situation was
unstable; and (4) had concerns about the mental health
of Erica.

4.) Erica argued that the trial court’s decision was
against the manifest weight of the evidence because (1)
one of the DCFS investigations against Shawn resulted
in an indicated finding; (2) no professional opinion was
introduced to support the claim that Erica was alienating
the children from Shawn; (3) the children expressed a
preference for being placed with Erica; (4) the children
were thriving in the custody of Erica; and (5) Shawn pre-
vented Erica from having phone contact with the chil-
dren. Erica’s arguments were not persuasive.

The trial court considered the DCFS reports and
found that Erica and her father had interfered in the
investigations. In addition, the court determined that it
did not need a professional opinion to conclude that
Erica had been alienating the children from Shawn. The
trial court found further that, although the children
expressed a preference to be placed with Erica, Erica
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had manipulated the children’s desires. As to Shawn’s
failures to abide by the agreed judgment, although
Shawn was “not perfect,” he was in a better position than
Erica to provide for the children’s best interest.

No Abuse of Discretion where Mother’s “Systemic Effort”
to Exclude Father was key consideration in Awarding
Custody to Father.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF CARMALITA YOUNG,
Petitioner-Appellant, and BURTRANN YOUNG,
Respondent-Appellee. December 21, 2015, Il App.Ct
3rd District, No. 3-15-0553, 2015 IL App (3d) 150553,
Adrienne W. Albrecht, trial judge.

Carmalita and Burtrann both sought custody of their
son, Zachariah, who was seven years old when the par-
ties separated. The trial court awarded joint custody to
Carmalita and Burtrann, ordered Burtrann have resi-
dential custody and Carmalita have visitation. Carmalita
appealed the custody decision. The appellate court
affirmed.

1.) On appeal, the issue was whether the trial court
erred when it awarded residential custody to Burtrann.
Carmalita argued that the trial court failed to consider
Z.Y.’s need for continuity and stability and placed too
much emphasis on Z.Y.’s preference to live with his
father. 5

2.) The trial court decides custody according to the
best interest of the child. In making a custody determi-
nation, the trial court considers a number of factors,
including: (1) the parent’s or parents’ wishes regarding
custody; (2) the child’s wishes; (3) the child’s interaction
and interrelationship with his parents; (4) the adjust-
ment of the child to his home, school and community; (5)
the mental and physical health of all involved individu-
als; (6) physical violence or the threat of it by the poten-
tial custodian, directed at the child or another person;
(7) ongoing or repeated abuse toward the child or anoth-
er person; and (8) each parent’s ability and willingness to
foster the child’s relationship with the other parent. 750
ILCS 5/602(a)(1)-(8) (West 2012).

, 3.) The best interest factors supported the trial
court’s award of residential custody to Burtrann. Both
parents wanted custody of Z.Y., so this factor favored
neither Carmalita nor Burtrann. As to the second factor,
Z.Y. expressed his preference to live with his father. As
to the third factor, Z.Y. interacted well with his parents
and enjoyed a close bond with both of them. His rela-
tionship with his father was more aligned with Z.Y.’s
needs and wishes. Carmalita’s lack of flexibility affected
her relationship with Z.Y. in that she failed to recognize
his desire for physical activity and the importance of
Burtrann in Z.Y.’s life. This factor favored Burtrann.

4.) The fourth factor also favored Burtrann. Z.Y. had
friends and activities at both his father’s and his mother’s
houses. As a result of his mother moving them in with her
parents, Z.Y. had to adjust his activity level to comply
with the desires of his grandparents. There were no men-

tal or physical health issues with either parent.

5.) The final relevant factor was the ability and will-
ingness of each parent to foster the child’s relationship
with the other parent. Contrary to Carmalita’s claims,
the trial court did not consider Z.Y.s preference the
determinative factor. Rather, the trial court emphasized
Carmalita’s “systemic effort to exclude Burtrann” as a
key consideration in awarding custody to Burtrann, rea-
soning it was the only way to ensure the active involve-
ment of both parents.

6.) Carmalita was incapable or unwilling to foster a
relationship between Z.Y. and his father and took active
steps to limit Burtrann’s involvement in Z.Y.’s life.
Examples of Carmalita’s exclusive conduct included mak-
ing decisions about Z.Y. without Burtrann’s knowledge
or input, refusing to list Burtrann as Z.Y.’s parent at day-
care, and maintaining an inflexible schedule and attitude.
The trial court likewise expressed concern that Carmalita
would continue to engage in conduct contrary to Z.Y.’s
best interest in having Burtrann actively involved in his
life. This factor, and the majority of the best interest fac-
tors, favored Burtrann as the custodial parent.

» CIVIL PRACTICE

No Error in Precluding certain evidence regarding
Mother’s Current Mental State, and, even if Error,
Father Failed to Demonstrate that the Preclusion of
the Evidence was Prejudicial. Decision to Award
Mother Sole Custody was not against the Manifest
Weight of the Evidence.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF DAVID H.B., Petitioner-
Appellant, and LINDA E.B., Respondent-Appellee.
December 28, 2015, Ill.App.Ct. 2nd District, No. 2-
15-0772, 2015 IL App (2d) 150772-U, Kevin G.
Costello, trial judge. Rule 23.

David appealed the judgment granting Linda’s petition
seeking sole custody of the parties’ children. On appeal,
David argued that the trial court abused its discretion in
refusing to admit certain evidence about Linda’s current
mental state. David also argued that the trial court’s ulti-
mate decision to change the children’s custody and award
Linda sole custody was against the manifest weight of the
evidence. The appellate court affirmed.

1.) David argued that evidence of Linda’s current
mental state was relevant under section 602 of the Act,
particularly under the factors dealing with the mental
health of the parties and the willingness of the parent to
facilitate a relationship between the children and the
other parent. In a general sense, such evidence is rele-
vant and admissible. '

2.) David pointed to three instances where he
believed the trial court improperly precluded mental-
state evidence. David contended that the trial court
abused its discretion in precluding testimony about the
results of a counseling session with R.B. prompted by an
incident in which Linda discovered that R.B. was holding
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a large amount of cash. This line of inquiry followed the
questions about therapeutic treatment of the children.
David also argued that the trial court abused its discre-
tion by precluding him from inquiring of Linda her rea-
sons for believing that he was going to have Yeschek
arrested at the Celebrate Recovery program.

3.) The appellate court could not say that the trial
court abused its discretion in precluding this evidence.
Even if each of the questions or lines of inquiry were
erroneously precluded, David did not develop his argu-
ment sufficiently to demonstrate that any of the preclu-
sions resulted in prejudice to his case. While a trial court
enjoys substantial discretion over evidentiary rulings, a
party is not entitled to reversal based on the trial court’s
erroneous evidentiary rulings unless the error substan-
tially prejudiced that party and affected the outcome of
the case. Kovera v. Envirite of Illinois, Inc., 2015 IL App
(1st) 133049, 1 55.

Here, David contended only that the trial court
erred in excluding the evidence. David did not contend
that he was prejudiced as a result of the errors, let alone
carried his burden of demonstrating substantial preju-
dice affecting the outcome of the case. Accordingly,
David could not establish the grounds necessary for
reversal of the trial court even if it erred in excluding the
complained-of evidence or lines of inquiry.

4.) David next contended that the trial court’s deci-
sion to award sole custody of the children to Linda was
against the manifest weight of the evidence. The appel-
late court disagreed.

5.) The central issue was the academic performance
of the children, and substantial evidence was introduced
showing that, under David’s homeschooling regimen,
both children were experiencing significant academic
deficiencies. Moreover, based on the evidence regarding
the children’s academic performance while home-
schooled, the trial court’s decision to make it the para-
mount factor in this case was not against the manifest
weight of the evidence. Likewise, even if the trial court
had balanced the enumerated factors as David suggest-
ed, the appellate court could not say it would have
changed the outcome, as the trial court expressly stated
that the children’s academic performance was an over-
riding factor in its consideration.

» DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Denial of Order of Protection against Husband was
Error.

CAROLYN ANNE H., Petitioner-Appellant, v.
ROBERT H., Respondent-Appellee. December 3, 2015,
1L App.Ct. 2nd District, No. 2-15-0409, 2015 IL App
(2d) 150409, John C. Redington, trial judge.

Carolyn appealed a judgment denying her petition
under the Tilinois Domestic Violence Act of 1986 (Act)
(750 ILCS 60/101 et seq. (West 2014)) for an order of
protection against Robert, her husband. Carolyn argued

that (1) the judgment was against the manifest weight of
the evidence and (2) the trial court erred in allowing
Robert to question Carolyn about her mental state as it
existed after the incidents on which her petition was
based. The appellate court reversed and remanded with
directions.

1.) The Act enables a person to obtain an order of
protection upon proof by a preponderance of the evi-
dence that she has been abused by a family or household
member (750 ILCS 60/201(a)(i), 205(a), 214(a) (West
2014)). “Abuse” includes “physical abuse, harassment
*+** {nterference with personal liberty or willful depriva-
tion.” 750 TILCS 60/103(1) (West 2014). “Harassment,”
in turn, means “knowing conduct which is not necessary
to accomplish a purpose that is reasonable under the cir-
cumstances; would cause a reasonable person emotional
distress; and does cause emotional distress to the
Carolyn.” 750 ILCS 60/103(7) (West 2014).

2.) The trial court’s judgment was against the mani-
fest weight of the evidence.

3.) Much of the evidence was undisputed, as Robert
put on none. Carolyn testified that Robert, who was far
bigger and stronger than she was and had worked as a
military policeman, shoved her hard enough to cause her
to collide with a cabinet, bruising her right elbow, and,
according to both her and Officer Most, breaking her
skin. Most also testified that the encounter had left
Carolyn very “shook up” and scared. Carolyn testified
that Robert also applied a sophisticated “pressure point”
tactic to her thumb that not only made her hands fly back
and caused her to scream but also left an injury that last-
ed approximately five weeks.

4.) Essentially no evidence contradicted or under-
mined these facts. The trial court stated that, although
“[sJomewhere along the line” Carolyn had hit her elbow
against the cabinet, that was not sufficient proof “that he
pushed her into the cabinet or she hit it during a strug-
gle.” The reviewing court did not accept this characteri-
zation of the evidence.

Although a reviewing court must defer to the fact
finder’s prerogative to draw reasonable inferences from
the evidence, it may not allow unreasonable inferences.
Even had Robert not intended to push Carolyn into the
cabinet, he did intend to push her, he did push her, and,
as the natural and probable consequence of his action,
she hit something hard and was injured.

5.) To the extent that the trial court required “phys-
ical manifestations of abuse on the person of the victim,”
the court erred. 750 ILCS 60/214(a) (West 2014).

6.) The trial court further erred to the extent that it
based its denial of the petition on the bond condition in
the criminal prosecution of Robert. Beyond the fact that
the bond condition was not “part of the record,” it is per-
fectly proper for a plenary order of protection to exist
alongside conditions imposed during the pendency of
criminal proceedings. See 725 ILCS 5/1 12A-20(b) (West
2014).

7.) The facts of this case fit into the Act’s definition
of abuse.
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8.) Given the resolution of this appeal, the appellate
court did not need to consider Carolyn’s contention that
the trial court erred in allowing Robert to introduce evi-
dence of the events of January 30, 2015, and their rela-
tionship, if any, to her mental health.

» GUARDIANS

Spouse Lacks Standing to Participate in the Probate
Court’s Hearing on Whether to Allow Guardian to File
for Divorce on behalf of the Ward.

GEORGE E WARGA, a Disabled Person, By and
Through His Guardian, Joseph Warga, Respondent-
Appellee. December 4, 2015, Il App.Ct. 1st District,
No. 1-15-1182, 2015 IL App (Ist) 151182, Ann
Collins-Dole, trial judge.

1.) In Karbin v. Karbin, 2012 IL 112815, our supreme
court held that a guardian may seek court permission to
bring a marriage dissolution action on behalf of a ward,
and overruled the contrary rule previously established.
The General Assembly codified Karbin shortly there-
after, through a 2014 amendment to the Probate Act.
The Karbin Court’s opinion, and the Act, set forth cer-
tain procedural and substantive safeguards to protect the
ward. Among those safeguards is the requirement that a
trial court considering a petition to file for-dissolution of
marriage hold a hearing to determine whether dissolu-
tion is in the ward’s best interests.

2.) Does a ward’s non-guardian spouse have standing
to participate at the best interests hearing? Here, the
appellate court held that a ward’s spouse does not have
standing to challenge this particular decision made by
the duly appointed guardian.

3.) The ward, George, was born in 1924 and was 91
years old. When George’s first wife became ill, he hired
a nurse, Laima Bacanskas, to help care for her. George’s
first wife died in 2000, but George continued to retain
Laima to help with household duties. In 2006, George
and Laima married. George had no children by either
marriage.

- 4.) George’s niece, filed a petition for appointment of
guardian for disabled person for George, nominating
Joseph Warga, George’s brother, to be the guardian of
the person. Laima was named in the petition as an inter-
ested person, but she did not challenge the petition at
that time. George was alleged to be disabled due to
dementia and depression. The trial court appointed
Joseph as temporary guardian pending further proceed-
ings. Laima filed a cross petition for appointment of
guardian for disabled person and nominated her son by
a previous relationship, Tomas Bekeris, to be the
guardian of George’s person and estate. The trial court
denied Laima’s petition and granted Cathleen’s petition.

5.) George had resided at an assisted living facility
since April 2012. On February 4, 2014, Laima filed a
motion for visitation with her husband George. She
claimed that they used to have periodic visits, but after

her annual trip to Lithuania from June 2013 to August
2013, George said he no longer wished to see her. The
trial court denied Laima’s motion for visitation. George
appeared in court for a scheduled court date, during
which he asked to address the court. During his remarks,
he told the judge: “I would like to disassociate myself
from Laima in any way that I can. I just want her out of
my life. We are not compatible in the least bit. There’s
never any pleasure between our relationship. It was just
business, and it will never be more than that.” He reiter-
ated this point several times throughout his remarks. He
also claimed that he did not like how Laima requested
money and claimed that she was using it to support her
son Tomas. George said that if possible, he did not ever
want to see Laima again.

6.) Although Laima was allowed to participate during
the preliminary hearing, the trial court ultimately deter-
mined that the only parties with standing to participate
in the final best interests hearing would be: (1) George’s
guardian ad litem; (2) Joseph, as guardian of George’s
person; (3) Northern Trust, as guardian of George’s
estate; and (4) George’s attorney. The trial court con-
ducted the best interests hearing and offered Laima the
opportunity to testify as an interested party, which her
counsel declined.

7.) While Laima was George’s spouse, she was not his
guardian, and there was no statutory basis for her to
challenge the guardian’s decisions in this matter.

8.) The right to marry is protected by the
Constitution. However, there is no corollary constitu-
tional right for one spouse to remain in a marriage. To
the contrary, individuals have rights to dissolve a mar-
riage. There are other reasons why Laima had no stand-
ing to oppose the authorization. First, in divorce pro-
ceedings involving two competent spouses, one spouse
cannot contest the other’s mere filing of the case
through counsel. It would thus be wholly illogical to per-
mit it in this instance. Second, permitting Laima to chal-
lenge the authorization would be contrary to the princi-
ples emphasized in Karbin. The Karbin Court stated that
“when a guardian decides that [the ward’s] best interests
require that the marriage be dissolved, the guardian
must have the power to take appropriate legal action to
accomplish that end.”

9.) Like any spouse, Laima may contest the grounds
for dissolution of her marriage in the divorce court.

» JUVENILE

State Failed to Prove Minor was Neglected under Theory
of Anticipatory Neglect.

IN RE ZION M., a Minor, Minor-Respondent-
Appellant (The People of the State of Illinois, Petitioner-
Appellee, v. NEATRE S. AND DANQUILL M,
Respondents-Appellees). December 17, 2015,
I11.App.Ct. First District, No. 1-15-1119, 2015 IL App
(1st) 151119, Bernard J. Sarley, trial judge.
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Zion was the youngest child of five children born to
respondent, Neatre S. Prior to his birth, one of Zion’s
siblings found a gun in the home and shot another sibling
in the head. The gun belonged to Neatre’s former live-in
paramour, who was subsequently convicted and sen-
tenced to a six-year prison term for unlawful felony pos-
session of a gun. Following the incident, the State filed
petitions for adjudication for all four of Neatre’s chil-
dren who were in the home at the time of the shooting.
Two months later, when Zion was born, the State also
filed a petition for adjudication for Zion alleging he was
neglected or abused. The hearing on all petitions pro-
ceeded simultaneously by stipulation.

The trial court found that Neatre’s paramour, not
Neatre, was the perpetrator of the neglect and abuse of
Zion’s siblings and adjudicated Zion’s siblings wards of
the State. With respect to Zion, though, the trial court
held that the State had failed to prove by a preponder-
ance of the evidence that Zion was neglected or abused
under a theory of anticipatory neglect. The public
guardian appealed that decision, and the State filed a
brief in support of the public guardian’s appeal. The
appellate court affirmed.

1.) Preliminarily, there was a disagreement over
what standard of review should apply. The public
guardian and the State argued that the de novo standard
of review should apply where all the evidence presented
in the case was documentary evidence or stipulations,
and the trial court did not hear any live testimony. See
Norskog v. Pfiel, 197 1ll. 2d 60, 70-71 (2001). The mother
and father argued that because this was a review of the
trial court’s adjudicatory findings, those findings should
be reviewed under a manifest weight of the evidence
standard. See In re Jerome F, 325 Ill. App. 3d 812, 819
(2001).

Ordinarily, a trial court’s ruling regarding neglect or
abuse will not be disturbed unless it is against the mani-
fest weight of the evidence. The trial court is generally
vested with this wide discretion because it has the best
opportunity to observe the witnesses’ testimony, assess
credibility, and weigh the evidence.

The trial court’s finding that Zion was not neglected
was based upon a stipulated record and not based upon
any observations of the witnesses or witnesses’ testimo-
ny. As such, the trial court was not in a better position
than the reviewing court to assess credibility or weigh the
evidence. Therefore, since the appellate court was in the
same position as the trial court, the trial court was not
vested with wide discretion, and the appellate review was
de novo.

2.) The public guardian and the State did not argue
that Zion was a direct victim of neglect or abuse. Rather,
they argued that Zion was neglected and/or abused
under a theory of anticipatory neglect. “Under the antic-
ipatory neglect theory, the State seeks to protect not only
children who are the direct victims of neglect or abuse,
but also those who have a probability to be subject to
neglect or abuse because they reside, or in the future
may reside, with an individual who has been found to

have neglected or abused another child.” In re Arthur H.,
212 1L 2d at 468. The doctrine of anticipatory neglect
recognizes that a parent’s treatment of one child is pro-
bative of how that parent may treat his or her other chil-
dren. llinois courts have held that there is no per se rule
that the neglect of one child conclusively establishes the
neglect of another child in the same household.
Although the neglect of one child does not conclusively
show the neglect of another child, the neglect of one
minor is admissible as evidence of the neglect of anoth-
er minor under a respondent’s care. 705 ILCS 405/2-
18(3) (West 2012). Under this theory, when faced with
evidence of prior neglect by parents, the juvenile court
should not be forced to refrain from acting until another
child is injured.

3.) Zion was not present for and did not witness any
of the incidents that lead to the removal of her siblings
from the home because she was not yet born. Further,
the perpetrators of those incidents that resulted in find-
ings of neglect and abuse of Zion’s siblings did not live in
the household with Neatre. As such, the preponderance
of evidence did not show that Neatre was a perpetrator
of abuse or neglect. Rather, the record showed that
James Sr. was the individual responsible for the injury to
Zion’s siblings that resulted in Zion’s siblings being adju-
dicated wards of the State. James Sr. cannot visit or
reside with Zion because he resided in the penitentiary.
As such, similar to the supreme court’s ruling in In re
Arthur H., the State failed to meet its burden of proof in
proving that Zion was a neglected minor under a theory
of anticipatory neglect.

4.) In re Kenneth D., 364 1ll. App. 3d 797 (2006) was
distinguishable from the case at bar. In In re Kenneth D,
the mother was the perpetrator of the neglect as she was
the one dealing with a drug addiction that placed
Kenneth D. at risk of harm, and there was evidence that
she had not resolved her issues with drug addiction prior
to Kenneth D. being born. Thus, there is no question
that the mother of Kenneth D. posed a threat to
Kenneth D. where she was still suffering from a drug
addiction that had resulted in her other children being
taken away. Here, Neatre was never found to be the per-
petrator of any neglect or abuse and, more importantly,
those persons who were found to be the perpetrators of
neglect or abuse, namely James Sr. and Danquill, do not
live in the home with Neatre and, therefore, did not pose
a future threat of harm to Zion.

5.) The public guardian and the State also argued
that Zion should have been found abused due to sub-
stantial risk of physical injury. However, both parties
based this argument on the notion that “the same facts
and evidence which support a finding of neglect due to
an injurious environment can also support the ‘court’s
finding of abuse due to a substantial risk of physical
injury.” Because the State failed to prove neglect in this
case, it followed that the public guardian and the State’s
argument with respect to an abuse finding must fail.

6.) Waiver aside, there was nothing in the record to
suggest that Neatre abused or neglected Zion, and evi-
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dence that Neatre had not done everything social servic-
es required of her to regain custody of her other children
was not determinative of the issues. Just as prior abuse
or neglect of a sibling does not per se establish neglect of
another sibling, “a prior finding of unfitness does not
prove per se neglect.” In re J.C., 396 Ill. App. 3d 1050,
1057 (2009); see also In re D.C., 209 111. 2d 287, 299-302
(2004) (rejecting State’s argument that “unfitness as to
one child is unfitness as to all[]”).

» MAINTENANCE

Trial Court had Jurisdiction to Order Reimbursement of
Overpaid Maintenance.

IN RE MARRIAGE OF JAMES R. FIGLIULO,
Petitioner-Appellee, and MARY ANNE FIGLIULO,
Respondent-Appellant. December 7, 2015, Il App.Ct.
1st District, No. 1-14-0290, 2015 IL App (1st) 140290,
Naomi H. Schuster, trial judge.

Mary Anne appealed the order of the trial court find-
ing in favor of James on his claim that he overpaid his
maintenance obligation to her in 2011. Mary Anne con-
tended that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to consid-
er James’ claim and therefore its order was void ab initio
and should be vacated. The trial court affirmed.

1.) The “Maintenance” section of the judgment pro-
vided that “James shall pay to Mary Anne as and for per-
manent maintenance of $7500 per month plus a total of
35% from the gross of any bonus or other income James
receives as a result of his employment with Figliulo &
Silverman, P.C. or any other successor business wherein
he earns income as an attorney or consultant.” The trial
court’s order pursuant to the agreement stated “[t]hat
James shall pay Mary Anne permanent maintenance in
the amount of $7500 per month plus an amount calcu-
lated when James receives his bonuses, of 35% from the
gross, including the $7500 monthly in said calculation
which James receives as a result of his employment with
Figliulo & Silverman, P.C. or any other successor busi-
ness wherein he earns income as an attorney or consult-
ant.”

7 2) The order further provided that “the Court
reserves jurisdiction over the parties hereto and subject
matter herein for purposes of enforcing this judgment.”

3.) In fulfillment of his maintenance obligations,
James paid Mary Anne two payments of $7,500 for
November and December of 2011, and also paid a lump
sum of $214,987.50 representing “35% from the gross”
income of 2011. James filed a motion to compel reim-
bursement on September 4, 2012. He argued that he
overpaid his maintenance obligation for 2011 by
$168,417.50 because the amount he paid represented
35% of his income for the entire year, and he only owed
maintenance after the date on which the judgment for
dissolution of marriage was entered, October 11, 2011.

After a hearing, the trial court granted James’s motion
finding that pursuant to the terms of the judgment,
James overpaid maintenance. The trial court ordered
Mary Anne to reimburse James $167,073.80 represent-
ing James’s overpayment in 2011.

4.) A trial court’s jurisdiction in a dissolution pro-
ceeding is limited to that conferred by statute.
Furthermore, entry of a final order in a dissolution pro-
ceeding “becomes a final and conclusive adjudication
after the passage of 30 days from its rendition.” The
court, however, retains indefinite jurisdiction to enforce
its orders relating to the dissolution judgment.

5.) A distinction exists between enforcement and
modification of an order. The trial court has jurisdiction
to modify an order only upon a finding of a substantial
change in circumstances pursuant to factors set forth in
section 510. In his motion to compel, James did not
allege a substantial change in circumstances.

6.) The issue was whether in filing his motion to
compel reimbursement, James sought enforcement of
the dissolution judgment.

7.) A petition seeks to enforce the terms of the trial
court’s order in the dissolution judgment if it requests a
determination of the parties’ rights and obligations with
respect to the terms, as opposed to the imposition of new
or different obligations on the parties.

8.) Here, James sought a determination of his 2011
maintenance obligation pursuant to the dissolution judg-
ment. The trial court found that the maintenance order
in the dissolution judgment was ambiguous because it
did not address whether James’s maintenance obligation
for 2011 should be prorated. The trial court considered
undisputed testimony presented at the hearing that up to
the date of the dissolution judgment, the parties lived
the lifestyle they were accustomed to during the mar-
riage. It therefore determined that the order intended
for James’s maintenance obligation to begin on October
11, 2011, the date of the judgment. In making this find-
ing, the trial court merely clarified the rights and obliga-
tions of the parties as set forth in the dissolution judg-
ment. The trial court’s order did not impose new or dif-
ferent maintenance obligations on the parties. Since
James sought to enforce the dissolution judgment, the
trial court had jurisdiction to consider the motion and
enter its order.

9.) The trial court has jurisdiction to enforce a mar-
ital settlement agreement incorporated into the dissolu-
tion judgment without first establishing a basis to vacate
the dissolution judgment pursuant to section 2-1401 of
the Code.

10.) There is no reason why a request for reimburse-
ment cannot occur within an enforcement proceeding as
there are no specific provisions in the Dissolution Act
that address reimbursement for overpayment of mainte-
nance obligations.
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INTRODUCING THE 2016
ILLINOIS FAMILY LAW STATUTES

The Iinois Family Law Statutes, as amended to date, includes the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of
Marriage Act - Religious Freedom and Marriage Fairness Act - Illinois Religious Freedom Protection and
Civil Union Act - Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act - Child Abduction - Full Faith
and Credit Given to Child Custody Determinations and Child Support Orders - Expedited Child Support
Act of 1990 - Uniform Interstate Family Support Act - Income Withholding for Support Act - “Long Arm
Statute” - Illinois Domestic Violence Act of 1986 - Gender Violence Act - Civil No-Contact Order Act -
Stalking No Contact Order Act - Emancipation of Mature Minors Act - Illinois Parentage Act of 2015 -
The Illinois Parentage Act - The Illinois Uniform Premarital Agreement Act - Rights of Married Persons
Act - Adoption Act - Illinois Religous Freedom Protection and Civil Union Act - Contest of Adoptions Act
- Instruments Regarding Adopted Children Act - Adoption Compensation Prohibition Act - Interstate
Compact on the Placement of Children Act - Interstate Compact on Adoption Act - Alienation of
Affections Act - Breach of Promise Act - Criminal Conversation Act - Marriage, Dissolution, and Invalidity
Records Act - Domestic Violence Shelters Act - Gestational Surrogacy Act - Child Support Payment Act.

The $65.70 price includes the statutes and update service for all future revisions enacted in 2016. Prices
good to March 31, 2016.

To subscribe send your check for $65.70 (include your name and address),
or go to www.illinoisfamilyreport.com and subscribe by credit card (Visa or Mastercard).
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